



Installation Guide

Part 2: Programming

v. 2015/08/04

Velbuslink is regularly updated. The screenshots in this manual may differ from the most recent Velbuslink version.

© 2015 Velbus

Table of contents

1	VELBUSLINK
	Downloading and installing connecting, scanning and synchronizing
2	GETTING STARTED WITH A NEW PROJECT
	Creating a new Velbuslink project
	Changing electronic addresses
	Operating channels from within Velbuslink10
	Renaming the modules and channels1
	Optional: Layers
	Using the detector tab11
	Recap
3	ACTIONS14
	Introduction14
	Creating actions14
	Visualizing and modifying actions10
4	CHANGING FEEDBACK CHARACTERISTICS OF INPUT MODULES
5	FORCING AND INHIBITING
	Inhibiting 20
	IIIIIDItilig
	Priorities
	In case of power loss2
6	CONFIGURING MODULES
7	DUAL MODE BUTTONS
	Make virtual channels available2
	Create the actions
	Set up dual mode24
8	HEATING/COOLING CONTROL2
	1. Activate the temperature sensors2!
	2. Configure the temperature settings2
	3. Link sensors
	4. Create connections
	5. Using input channels to set the heating / cooling mode (optional)2
9	CREATING AND MODIFYING PROGRAM STEPS
	Program steps for input channels29
	Heating/cooling program steps29
	Programs versus program steps29
	Actions related to program steps and programs30
10	TROUBLESHOOTING
	The bus is not scanned correctly due to an incorrect Windows device driver
	When I try to scan, Velbuslink gives an error message "communication error received"
	The scan worked perfectly but now, using the same port, I can't find my installation anymore3
	The scan is done and I saw the scan addresses increase from 00 upwards, but nothing was found.3
	The scan is over but there are missing modules

The scan is over but some modules have a red 'X' mark @ on the module name	32
My VMB8PBU modules give a different address than the one I set	33
The addresses of my modules have suddenly changed	33
Some input channels provide a wrong "pressed" status	33
The LEDs on some modules blink or do not respond	33
An input module stops responding	33
After a scan of my new modules I get continuous error messages if I try to read or sync	33
Automatic detection selects the wrong module	33

1 VELBUSLINK

In this guide you will find instructions on how to program the modules in a Velbus home automation system. For more information on Velbus hardware (installing the modules and wiring), please refer to "**Installation Guide, Part 1: Hardware and Cabling**".

DOWNLOADING AND INSTALLING

Velbuslink is the free configuration software for Velbus. It can be downloaded from the www.velbus.eu website. To install Velbuslink on your PC (Windows only), double click the setup file and follow the standard installation procedure.

We recommend to regularly check for updates on the website, as new modules and functions may be included. You can subscribe to the Velbus newsletter and/or updates to automatically receive notifications in your inbox.

CONNECTING, SCANNING AND SYNCHRONIZING

It is important to understand the following three basic concepts in Velbuslink: connecting, scanning and synchronizing.

Connecting

In Velbuslink Connecting — means: making a connection between the Velbuslink program and the Velbus system (the modules) through an USB or RS232 interface module¹, through the VMBHIS Home Center server or through a TCP/IP server.

Velbuslink can also be used without being connected to the modules. In that case, changes made can be saved to the Velbuslink project file (which is stored on your PC), and later written to the modules once a connection has been made.

Scanning

When Velbuslink scans 🖄 your physical installation, it creates on your PC a set of virtual copies of the modules.

You can then configure these virtual modules and create actions between them using Velbuslink's graphical interface. For instance, to make a certain push button switch a relay channel, you will create a "toggle" action in Velbuslink between the button and the relay channel.

Synchronizing

By then writing your Velbuslink project (or certain parts of it) to the physical modules (synchronizing arrow U) these actions and other settings will then be written into the memory maps of the modules.

Synchronizing can be done in two directions: reading and writing.



In Velbuslink reading means: copying the physical module's contents to the PC, overwriting the Velbuslink project. Writing means: copying the Velbuslink project from your PC to the memory maps of the modules, overwriting the modules.

¹VMBRSUSB, VMB1USB or VMB1RS

Always first connect – scan – synchronize

Whenever you start Velbuslink, it is good practice to always **connect**, then scan 🧟, then synchronize 🔨 (read), before doing anything else. This way you are sure that what you see on your PC coincides perfectly with what's written into the modules.

2 GETTING STARTED WITH A NEW PROJECT

CREATING A NEW VELBUSLINK PROJECT

We will assume from this step on that you are working with a live Velbus installation, connected to your PC with a USB cable. Make sure none of your Velbus modules are in error mode (LEDs blinking several times, pause, then blinking again). In case of errors, please refer to "Troubleshooting" on p.31 and solve the problems before continuing.

After having installed and started Velbuslink, click New or New Project to start a wizard that will guide you through the process of creating a new project.



Choose a filename and folder, and click Next.

🟠 New Project Wizard
VEDBUS
Select a filename for your project.
< Back Next> Einish

Select Connect to my existing installation and press Next.

New Project Wizard	3US
Select your connection C Connec C Work of	method: to my existing installation
	<back< td=""></back<>

In the following window, select Direct cable connection (RS232, USB) and press Next.



The software will automatically choose the port on which the Velbus USB module is connected. Click Finish to automatically establish a connection and start configuring your devices.

Establish a connection
Direct cable connection (RS232, USB) Connect to the Velbus using a direct cable to one of the interface modules VMB1USB, VMB1RS or VMBRSUSB.
Enter the port you want to connect to:
Port COM6 👻
Example: COM1, COM2,
Help Cancel

Now select Scan my installation for modules. This will make Velbuslink scan the bus for modules. Click Next to proceed.



A window will pop up, showing the progress of the scan.

Scar	nning
	Scanning for modules
Please	wait while we're trying to detect which modules are y installed
	<u>Stop</u>

Once the scan has completed, Velbuslink will ask if you want to retrieve the module memories, or start with empty modules.

🟠 New Project Wizard
VED BUS
Do you want to retrieve module memory? Read settings from my existing installation recommended) (Modules with an invalid address will not be read) C Start with blank modules
< Back

We recommend Read settings from my existing installation, as this is the only way to be sure that your project configuration in Velbuslink matches the actual configuration in the physical modules.

A window may pop up showing the progress of the memory read, after which you will be notified that your new project has been created. Press Finish to start configuring your Velbus installation.



CHANGING ELECTRONIC ADDRESSES

About hexadecimal and decimal notation

In Velbuslink addresses can be represented hexadecimally (00-FF) or decimally (0-255). In this manual we will use hexadecimal representation.

The hexadecimal address FF is the same as the decimal address 255, they are only represented in a different way. The same goes for hexadecimal 1A and decimal 11, and so on. Velbuslink can be configured to display addresses decimally or hexadecimally, according to the user's preference (menu "View" or icon [55].

All Velbus modules need to have a unique address between 01 and FE (hexadecimally) or 1 and 254 (decimally). Addresses 00 and FF (hexadecimally), or 0 and 255 (decimally) are reserved by the system. They are not to be used as addresses for active Velbus modules.

With a new installation, most modules will probably appear with exclamation marks ⁽¹⁾ next to them. This is simply because every new module with electronic addressing will be provided with the address "FF" by factory default². As the system does not allow duplicate addresses, it displays exclamation marks next to these addresses.

Name	Addr. (he)) ▲	Туре
🖃 😭 MyProject.vlp			
🕀 🔝 VMB4DC		FF	VMB4DC
🖶 🖸 VMBGPOD		FF	VMBGPOD

You now need to assign a valid address to all modules that still have an "FF" address.

Select any module (it does not matter which) and click on the 🖭 icon to open the Address management dialog.



The Address management dialog shows all connected modules with their current addresses. At this point, you cannot know which module is to be found where in your installation. But this is not necessary either, since Velbuslink comes with an automatic detection function.

Note: Only use the automatic detection function if no two modules with the same address (apart from "FF") are present in your Velbus system. If this should be the case, manually change the duplicates into new, unused addresses first.

Make sure Automatically select detected modules is ticked. Also check the filters to the right and verify that detection is activated for the modules you wish to detect.

² Modules with rotary switches for setting addresses need their address to be set beforehand. All recent modules however have electronic addresses.

odules			\frown
ame	Address 🔺	Туре	Showonly
VMB7IN		VMB7IN	
VMBGPOD	FF,FF,FF,FF,	VMBGPOD	Relavs
VMB6PBN	FF	VMB6PBN	
VMB4RYNO	FF	VMB4RYNP =	V Dimmers
VMBPIRO	FF	VMBPIRC	Rlinde
VMB4RYLD	FF	VMB4RYLD	I Dimus
VMB4DC	FF		✓ Inputs
VMB2BLE	FF	VMB2BLE	
VMEDM	FF		Heating
Automatically select detected modules			Sensors
Addresses of module "VMB7IN"			\land
1			
Address: FF Change	1		
]		
🗖 Use multip	e pages		
1	- 17 - 19 - 7		
🔲 Use thermo	ostate		
			1

If you now physically press a button on a module, the module will be automatically selected in Velbuslink for you to change its address. (As soon as a module has been detected, the Automatically select detected modules option will be unticked in order to avoid confusion if someone else would accidentally push a button).

Address management			×
Modules			
Modules	Address A FF FF FF FF FF FF FF FF	Type VMB4RYND VMB2BLE VMBDMI VMBGPD VMB9PBU VMB7IN	Show only
		<u>C</u> lose	

Addresses of selected modules are changed by entering a new value (01 to FE hexadecimally, or 0-254 decimally) in the address field. You can also change the name of the module by clicking on it and entering a new name (see screenshot below).

Address management			×
<u>M</u> odules			
Name	Address 🔺	Туре	Show only:
VMB4RYNO	FF	VMB4RYN0	
WMB2BLE	FF	VMB2BLE	I✓ Relays
	FF	VMBDMI	Dimmers
	FF,FF,FF,FF,FF	VMBGPOD	✓ Blinds
VMB8PBU	FF	VMB8PBU	
III VMB7IN	FF	VMB7IN	Inputs
			🔲 Heating

Press the Enter button on the keyboard or click on the Change button to confirm.

If you just want to assign the first free address, you can also use the Auto button.

The new address will be immediately written to the module, even without synchronising. Addresses can also be changed later without affecting the correct functioning of the system.

Each module should be selected in turn and its new address set to suit your requirements. DIN rail modules can be detected in the same way by pressing the buttons under their protective cover (which can be prised open gently with a finger nail or small screwdriver).

You can also set the addresses without automatic detection. To do so, just leave Automatically select detected modules unchecked, select a module and manually change its address.

When all modules have unique addresses, close the address management dialog and check the list of modules in your Velbus system to confirm that none have a red exclamation mark showing.

File	Edit Project View Tools Help					
	Connected to: Port COM6			(,	\otimes
Ne	w <u>O</u> pen <u>S</u> ave <u>C</u> lose	Disconnect	Scan	Synchro	onize	Sync cloc
ator	Project Naviga	tion				
Naviga	🚓 🖧 🏗 🛱 🏨 🗆 🌂 🔻 🎯 💽 🍗 🖲 🗮 🥪 🛙	3 🃎				
b	Name A	ddr. (hex) 🔺	Туре	Layer	Bui	Se
Detect	MyProject.vlp B VMB7IN	01	VMB7IN	0	1439	0A0D
	🖶 🔛 VMBGPOD	02	VMBGPOD	0	1521	A5F6
		03	VMB6PBN	0	1350	CD55
	🕀 🔟 VMB4RYNO	04	VMB4RYNO	0	1327	EFEB
		05	VMBPIRO	0	1519	11D3
	🕀 🔯 VMB4RYLD	06	VMB4RYLD	0	1327	9840
	🕀 🗾 VMB4DC	07	VMB4DC	0	1509	0444
	🕀 🔲 VMB2BLE	08	VMB2BLE	0	1325	1BD3
		09	VMBDMI	0	1201	FA09
	🗄 🔲 VMB 1BLS	10	VMB 1BLS	0	1527	21A5
		\cup			Leg	end 😝

OPERATING CHANNELS FROM WITHIN VELBUSLINK

You can operate a channel from within Velbuslink by right-clicking on the channel (for instance a relay channel) and choosing operate from the drop down list that appears. A window will pop up allowing you to operate the channel, e.g. switch a relay channel on or off.



In the example above we operate a relay channel. Clicking on the on/off buttons will actually operate the relay and you should see the connected fixture be turned on or off. This way you can check which channel is connected to which device from within Velbuslink, and rename it accordingly.

Not only relay channels can be operated, but also push buttons, input channels, dimmer channels, blind channels, and so on.

VMB6PBN - Push button 1			
Locked	VMB1BL	_S - Blind 1	
[✓ Program steps enabled	Roll Up	Mode selection © Disabled C Mode 1	
All pushbuttons Active program: Program 1	Roll Down	C Mode 2 C Mode 3	
M Done	Status: Normal	I	

RENAMING THE MODULES AND CHANNELS

In a new Velbuslink project the module names will default to their type, but they can then be renamed (eg. VMBGPOD could become "GPOD-Master Panel"). Names can be 15 characters long and may contain any alphanumerical character.

Most module names are stored only in Velbuslink and not in the modules. (Newer modules now store their name too.)

You can rename a module in different ways:

- by double-clicking on the name
- by selecting the module and pressing the F2-key on your keyboard
- by selecting the module and clicking on the rename icon 💷 above
- by right-clicking on it and selecting Rename

Channels can be renamed in the same way. Channel names are always stored in the respective modules.

We strongly advise to give modules and output channels meaningful names (based on their location and/or function for instance). This will make it easy to find the right modules and channels in Velbuslink when creating actions. It will also facilitate understanding the Velbuslink project if modifications need to be made later on.

OPTIONAL: LAYERS

If you have many modules, you may want to organise them in layers, which you can hide or show. You can for instance put all input modules on the ground floor in one layer, and all input modules on the first floor in another layer. You can then make these layers visible or invisible in the navigator window.

To create, manage and toggle the visibility of layers, click on the Layer Manager icon 🦻.



Adding a layer is done by clicking on the building block with the green "+" symbol 🧠. To delete a layer, highlight the unwanted layer and click on the building block with the red "-" symbol 🧠. Likewise, layers can be renamed by clicking on the building block with the pencil 🦻.

Once the layers have been created, go back to the navigator window. Modules can now be assigned to a layer by selecting the module and clicking on the Assign to a layer icon . Once the modules have been assigned to layers, their visibility in Velbuslink can be toggled by checking or unchecking the checkboxes below the eye symbol.

Adding, naming or deleting a layer has no effect on the project, apart from making certain modules temporarily visible or invisible in the navigator window.

USING THE DETECTOR TAB

A useful feature for finding modules and channels is the **Detector** tab. (Only to be used once all modules have received a valid, unique address). You can also use it for renaming channels.

The second secon	ject.vlp	our names or
<u>File Edit Project View Tools Help</u>		
Image: Connected to: Connected to: New Open Save Gose	Disconnect Scan	Synchronize
호 Channel De	tection	
Only shere these types of modules (hites):	1	
v v Relays v Inputs		
l → Dimmers → Heating		Deselect all
l♥ binds ♥ sensors		
Rename Glear		
Module	Channel	Addr. Type
VMBGPOD Master panel	L Kitchen	09 VMBGPOD
VMB6PBN	Push button 5	10 VMB6PBN
VMB6PBN	Push button 3	10 VMB6PBN
VMB4RYNO 1	© Kitchen light	07 VMB4RYNO
VMB4RYNO 1	中 Heating pump	07 VMB4RYNO
VMB4RYLD	🛱 Relay 3	05 VMB4RYLD
Bus Active Receive Ready		
bus Active Incolerve headly		

First, make sure the types of modules you want to be detected (relays, dimmers, inputs, ...) are checked in the top section of the detector window. Here you can filter out modules by unchecking the groups they belong to. This can be useful to ignore modules that periodically put data on the bus (like temperature or movement sensors) and that would otherwise appear without being activated by you.

When you press on a button (an input button or a button on the output modules themselves), the module will appear in the detector window.

The example above shows a number of entries that appeared after pushing the respective buttons.

Changing names of modules and channels here is similar as explained above under "Renaming the modules and channels" p.11.

Next to the rename button, the option clear removes all the results from the detection window so you can start anew with another detection round.

The detector tab is a great feature to use if you have an assistant to press buttons in the installation. If you are alone, you can walk around the house yourself and operate modules/channels in a certain order. When you return to Velbuslink, the channels will have appeared in the order you activated them and you can rename them accordingly.

RECAP

In short, to get started with a new Velbus project, follow the next steps:

- connect your Velbus installation to your PC (for instance with a USB cable to a VMBRSUSB configuration module)
- start Velbuslink
- click on New project and follow the wizard
- give all modules a unique, valid address
- rename the modules and channels. This can be done in several ways:
 - o in the Adress Management dialog when you assign addresses
 - o by simply selecting them one by one and renaming them
 - by operating the channels from within Velbuslink and checking which device is activated, then renaming the according channel
 - by using the Detection tab and physically operating the buttons, then renaming the channels as they appear.

Don't forget to save 🔲 your Velbuslink project file from time to time.

If you lose your Velbuslink project file, there's nothing to be worried about. You can simply start a new project and read the modules (synchronize > read). All actions, configurations and even channel names will appear in your Velbuslink project, since they were saved in the modules themselves. Only the module names will be lost (for all but the most recent modules).

3 ACTIONS

INTRODUCTION

In Velbuslink, all connections between various channels are created following the same basic pattern: initiator – action – subject.



For instance, to make a push button switch a light relay on and off, you would create the following connection:



In the above example, the push button is the initiator and the relay channel is the subject. But any kind of channel can be an initiator or a subject. For instance, to make a relay channel lock a push button, we will create the following action between the relay channel (this time acting as initiator) and the push button (this time acting as subject):



CREATING ACTIONS

There are many ways of creating an action between two channels (eg. a push button channel and a relay channel). Whichever way you choose to create actions within Velbuslink, the results that will be written to the modules are the same.

The list of available actions will vary depending on the channel that has been selected as "subject" of the action.

As an example, we will demonstrate the connection of an input channel (a push button) to an output channel (a relay).

Note that each relay channel can have a maximum of 36 actions assigned to it.

1. Drag and drop

For a smaller installation, a simple way to create an action is to "Drag and Drop" your input module button onto the desired output module channel. Here you see the "L Kitchen" being dropped on top of VMB4RYNO's relay channel no. 1 "Kitchen light".



Doing this will cause the Action properties window to appear, and be pre-populated with the combination selected by this "drag and drop" process.

🔭 VelbusLink 9.28.0.3119 - \\ts	client\CWsers\bv\DesktopWyProject.vip
File Edit Project View Tools Help	
New Open Save Clos	Working offline Image: Second secon
8	😸 Action properties 🛛 🗙
1940	Initiator: (<u>SFFFFFFF VNB6P0D Mater parel L Kichen [CH1]</u> Y Select. Delect.
Name	Subject: 07. VMB4RYN0 1. Kitchen licht/(CH1)
□ ○ WREPHT □ ○ Hadway topht □ ○ WREPHT □ ○ WREPHT	Action: Composition of the second of the se
Sunscreen up Sunscreen down Bysh button 5 Bysh button 6	Show categories
Push button 7 Push button 8	
F Hide disabled channels	Legend 🗟
us Artive Receive Ready	

All that remains to do to complete the action programming is to define the type of action that you want to happen when this button is pressed. If necessary, the action parameters (for instance a delay time) can be specified in the right hand panel.

2. Double click and select

As with most software, there are various ways to achieve the same goal. Here we show you another example of this process.

Start by double clicking on either the input button or the output channel that you want to feature in the next action. Here we have double clicked the same "L Kitchen" button as above.

🗟 Add	Action		×
C	Initiator: 09,FF,FF,FF,FF, VMBGPOD Master panel, L Kitchen (CH1)	8	Select. Detect.
Ç	Subject: Click to select a subject		Select.
Action	c	Parameters:	
		Parameter	Value
	1		
🔽 Show	/ categories	<u>N</u> ext	<u>D</u> K <u>C</u> lose

As before, the Add action window will appear, and the input selection will be pre-populated with the button selected here. Note the double arrow to the left of "initiator" and "subject": clicking on the arrow will switch the selected channels around.

Clicking on Click to select a subject or the Select button (see below) will bring up a new window, from where you can locate and select the module and channel that you want this new action to work with. Here we have selected, as above, the "Kitchen light" (CH1) relay.

🍅 VelbusLink 9.28.0.3119 - \\ts	client\C\Users\bv\Deskto	op\MyProject.vlp					
File Edit Project View Tools Help							
New Open Save Clos	Connected to: Working offline se	Connect	Scan	Synchronize	Sync clack		
ğ	📕 Add Action						×
	Initiator: 09.FF.F	F,FF,FF. VMBGPOD M	aster panel, L	.Kitchen (CH1)		Select	Detect
	Subject Click to	select a subject				<u>S</u> elect	Detect
	Action:			🏠 Select a	channel	×	
Website W					BBLS BBMI B2BLE B4PCD B4PCD B4PYND B4PYND 1 B4PYND 1 B4PAPCD 1 B4PYND 1 B4PAPCD 1 B4PAPCD 1 B4PAPCD	Addr 01 02 03 04 05 07	
 Sunscreen up Sunscreen down Push button 5 Push button 6 	Show categories	Cno		Only show the	ese types of modules (filter);		
Push button 7 Push button 8		CH7 CH8		I Dimme	ers V Heating		
✓ Hide disabled channels				IV Blinds	Sensors		
Bus Active Receive Ready					<u> </u>	<u>Cancel</u>	

Each module's channels are only shown after the module has been expanded (by clicking on the + sign to the left of it). If you can't find the module you're looking for, make sure its type is checked in the filter at the bottom of the Select a channel dialog.

With the desired output channel highlighted, click on OK. The selection window will close and take you back, so that you can now choose the type of action you want to happen (see "1. Drag and drop" above).

3. Detection

Instead of looking up the channel in the select a channel dialog, a channel can also be selected by detecting it.

In the Add action window, click on Detect.

📕 🗛	d Action				×
C	Initiator:	09,FF,FF,FF,FF, VMBGPOD Master panel, L Kitchen (CH1)		Select. Detect.	
Ċ	Subject:	<u>Click to select a subject</u>		Select Detect	>
Actio	n:		Parameters:		
			Parameter	Value	

A window will pop up Attempting to detect.... Press the physical button you want to use, and its corresponding channel will be detected by Velbuslink.

If the detection does not seem to work, make sure the appropriate filters are checked at the bottom of the Attempting to detect... dialog.

Here we have pressed the small button for channel 1 located on the relay module itself.

👫 Attempting to de	tect	×		
07. VMB4RYNO 1, Kitchen light (CH1)				
Only show these types o	f modules (filter):			
🔽 Relays	Inputs			
Dimmers	🔲 Heating			
🔽 Blinds	Sensors			

Pressing Accept will fill in this channel in the Add action dialog at the appropriate place. You can then select the type of action you want to happen. (Remember to modify any parameters in the right hand pane if necessary.)

VISUALIZING AND MODIFYING ACTIONS

By selecting any element of your installation (one or more modules or channels) in the navigator (left hand pane of Velbuslink), the actions associated with it will be shown in the right hand pane Actions. To edit an action, double-click on the name of the

action and the Edit action window will pop up. All properties of the action (initiator, subject, action type and parameters) can be changed. Changes will only be written to the modules after synchronisation (write) of course.



In the navigator window, you can also see that next to every channel associated with an action, a "chain link" icon appears. According to what has been programmed into them, other icons may appear next to modules or channels. The icon key can be shown by pressing the Legend button at the bottom of the main window.

	CH6 Relea CH7 Relea	sed Lopend B	-
us Active Receive Ready			li.
	Navigation Tree Legend	X	
	Navigation tree icons		
	Below is a list of icons t a frequently used config configuration.	hat can be seen in the Navigation Tree. Each icon indicates guration setting to make it easier to spot your current	
	0	This channel is part of an action	
	ල ග හ	Alarm 1 and/or Alarm 2 are enabled	
		This channel is locked	
	X 1 2 3	No program, program 1, program 2 or program 3 is selected	
	×	All program steps are disabled for this channel	
	<u>≚ ≜ ≚</u>	Sunrise and/or sunset are enabled	
	ŀ	This channel has temperature program steps	
	٩	This channel contains program steps	
	٥	Installation not yet scanned / module not found.	
	0	Address conflict.	
		Done	

4 CHANGING FEEDBACK CHARACTERISTICS OF INPUT MODULES

By default any feedback provided by an input module (eg. a push button module or a touch button glass panel) will represent the state of the output connected to it. For instance, if a relay channel is connected to a button, the default behaviour of the button LED will be: feedback LED on when relay is closed, feedback LED off (or dimmed) when relay is off. Feedback LEDs can also blink, for instance when a dimmer is dimming, a timer is running, a blind is going up or down, et cetera.

In some situations, you may want to change this default feedback behaviour, for instance to link the feedback LED of a button to a different output than the default one it has been associated with. This can easily be accomplished in Velbuslink.

For example, you may have a button in your living room commanding the ceiling light. Since the button is close to the light, you don't need the feedback LED to show the state of the light. You can use this feedback LED to show the state of the light in the children's room, for instance.

To do so, two steps need to be taken.

Step 1 is to configure the button channel to change its default feedback behaviour to Monitoring:

- 1. select the input module in Velbuslink (eg. the push button)
- 2. click on the Configure module symbol 🧼
- 3. in the Configuration settings window that appears, click on the tab LED Feedback (if this tab isn't visible, check Show advanced features at the bottom of the window)
- 4. double click on Feedback next to the channel's name.
- 5. in the LED Feedback window that pops up, select Monitoring

Click on OK, then on Done.



Step 2 is defining which output channel has to be monitored. Create the following action (see also "Actions" p.14):

- initiator: output channel (eg. relay)
- subject: **input** channel (eg. push button)
- action: 1. Switch status led indication

🔜 Add Ac	tion				2
Initiator:	02. VMB4RYLD, Children (CH1)			~	Select
Subject:	06,FF,FF,FF,07. VMBGPOD, Living ceiling (CH1)			~	Select.
Action:	🖃 🎯 Default actions		Parameters:		
	- 🏐 Switch status led indication	1	Parameter		Value
	- 😳 Lock channel at closed switch	2			
	😳 😳 Lock channel at opened switch	3			
	🚽 🎯 Lock channel	4			
	- 🎯 Lock/unlock channel	5			
	🗠 🎯 Unlock channel	6			
	🗁 🎲 Disable channel program at closed switch	7			
	🗁 🎲 Disable channel program at opened switch	8			
	🔤 🎯 Disable channel program channel	9			
	🔤 🎯 Disable/enable channel program	10	1		
	🖳 🎯 Enable channel program	11			
	1				
🔽 Show c	ategories			<u>N</u> ext	<u>D</u> K <u>C</u> lose

As always, don't forget to synchronize (write) your project.

The feedback LED of the push button in the living room will now reflect the state of the light in the children's room.

Other examples of possible LED feedback configurations are: showing the status of a doorbell, a light in an out building, or even the status of a connected burglar alarm (depending on hardware capability). These are all configured following the same steps as described above.

5 FORCING AND INHIBITING

For many modules forcing and inhibiting actions are available.

INHIBITING

While inhibited, a channel will be turned off (released). During inhibition mode, it will no longer respond to signals coming from the bus. It will however still pick up these signals, and when coming out of inhibition mode, it will execute the last command received, even if this was sent during inhibition mode.

For instance: a push button is connected to a relay channel by means of the action "On". While the relay is inhibited, the push button is pressed. As long as the inhibit mode is active, the relay will stay off (but the button push is registered). As soon as the inhibit mode ends, the "on" will be executed.



FORCING

A forced channel can be "forced on" or "forced off". While forced, it will no longer respond to signals coming from the bus. Furthermore, it will be completely "deaf" to all commands. When coming out of forced mode, it will **not** execute commands put on the bus during forced mode.

Example: a push button is connected to a relay channel by means of the action "On". While the relay is "forced off", the push button is pressed. As long as the forced mode is active, the relay will stay off and ignore the button push. After the forced mode ends, the relay will stay off.



PRIORITIES

Using a combination of regular, inhibiting and forcing actions one can set different levels of priorities. "Forced off" has priority over "forced on", which has priority over inhibiting actions, which in turn have priority over regular actions.

Example: a sunscreen has to be lowered when the indoor temperature exceeds 25°C. But when the wind sensor closes (too much wind), the screen has to go up regardless of all other commands. This can be achieved by using an inhibiting action for the indoor temperature alarm (eg. "inhibit but preset down at closed switch"), and a forced action for the wind alarm (eg. "forced up at closed switch"). The inhibit action will overrule normal button control. The force action will overrule all other actions, including the inhibit actions.

IN CASE OF POWER LOSS

In case of power loss, inhibit and forced statuses may be lost. To make sure they are automatically activated when power is restored, use a (virtual) normally closed input channel (e.g. a push button) to set these statuses. When power comes up, this input channel will close immediately and make sure the installation starts up in the correct state.

- program a virtual relay (hereafter called the "startup" relay) to set all desired channels of your installation to the right states at startup. For instance, if you want a light to be "inhibited" on startup, configure an "inhibit" action between the virtual "startup" relay (initiator) and the relay channel (subject).
- next, configure a (virtual) button to activate the "startup" relay during one second (use action no. 15, restartable timer, with "time at short press" set to 1 second).
- finally, set the (virtual) button to "Normally Closed". (Select the module, click on the "configure" symbol , open the tab "NO/NC" and set the button to NC by double-clicking on it). On power up, the button will instantly close, sending a "1 second on" signal to the "startup" virtual relay, which in turn will set the channels to the desired states.

6 CONFIGURING MODULES

All electronically addressable Velbus modules have settings that can be configured. These vary depending on the type of module. For relay modules the channels for instance can be set to "normally closed" or "normally open". For input modules (eg. pushbuttons) the array of possible settings is much wider: the response time can be set, single/dual/multi mode can be chosen, LED indication and backlights can be configured, program steps can be added, and so on. In glass panels, additionally the thermometer and thermostat functions can be configured, display settings can be edited, and so on. For dimmers the operation mode may be configurable, multi step presets can be set, and so on.

To access the configuration dialog of a module, select the module in the navigator and click on the gear icon 🥮. In the example below, we opened the configuration dialog of a VMBGPOD module.



For detailed explanations per module, please visit the Velbus products pages on www.velbus.eu > Products.

7 DUAL MODE BUTTONS

Velbus allows for dual mode functioning of push and touch buttons. In dual mode the same button has two different functions: one when short pressed (eg. all off), and another one when long pressed (eg. all on).

What will actually happen is that when the channel is long pressed, the module will simulate a different channel. For instance: long pressing button 2 will actually activate button 8. The long press time can be set to 1, 2 or 3 seconds.

In the explanation below we will use a VMBGP2 two touch button glass input module, but other input modules (push button as well as touch button) also allow for dual mode functioning³.

As an example we will configure push button no. 2 to act as "on" when short pressed and as "off" when long pressed.

MAKE VIRTUAL CHANNELS AVAILABLE

The most logical way to proceed, is to use a virtual channel for the long press function. Virtual channels are by default disabled. In order to use them, we first have to make them available in Velbuslink.

Select the input module and click on 🕸 to open the configuration window. In the tab General, set the response time of one of the virtual channels to Immediately. (In the screenshot below, we chose button 8).

Touch Panel Temperature Sensor	Timers	
General Illumination Preferences LED) Feedback Mode	
Name	Response time	
Button 1: Push button 1	Immediately 👻	
Button 2: Push button 2	Immediately 💌	
Button 3: Virtual button	Disabled 💌	
Button 4: Virtual button	Disabled 💌	
Button 5: Virtual button	Disabled 💌	
Button 6: Virtual button	Disabled 💌	
Button 7: Virtual button	Disabled -	
Button 8: Virtual button	Immediately -	
Long pres	sed time: 1s 💌	

Close the configuration window. The virtual button is now available in the navigation pane.



CREATE THE ACTIONS

To make things easier, change push button 1's name to "On" and the virtual button's name to "Off".



Then create the two actions (cfr. "Actions" p.14).

³ Except for the VMBGPOD four touch button glass input module with OLED display, because of the large amount of button functions (32) it is already equipped with.



SET UP DUAL MODE

Select the module in the navigation pane and click on 🥮. In the configuration window, select the Mode tab.

👯 01 ,FF. VMBGP2 - Configuration Settings						×
Touch Panel Temperature Sensor Timers	1					
General Illumination Preferences LED Feedb	ack Mode					
<mark>_∂</mark> <mark>□</mark> ∂ □ ∂ Edit <u>R</u> eset <u>R</u> eset All						
Button	Mode	CH1 CH2	CH3 CH4	CH5 CH	6 CH7	CH8
🔳 On (CH1)	Single	1				
Rush button 2 (CH2)	Single	2				

Double click the button that needs to be set to dual mode (in our example channel 1 "On"). The Mode configuration dialog pops up. Select Dual in the upper left corner. Then select next to Long press button which (virtual) button needs to be activated on long press. In our example, we select "Off" (channel 8).

🏠 Mode Con	figuration ×
C Normal Dual C Multi	DUAL MODE In this mode, a short press of the button works as usual, but you can choose to activate a different pushbutton when this pushbutton is pressed for a larger amount of time (the long pressed time).
	Long press button: I Diff (CH8)
	WARNING: The long pressed time is shared by all pushbuttons
	<u> </u>

The long pressed time can be set to 1, 2 or 3 seconds.

Select OK. In the tab Mode tab of the configuration window we can now see that dual mode has been configured for button 1. We can verify that a short press (S) activates channel 1, and a long press (3s) channel 8.

01,FF. VMBGP2	- Configuration Settir	ngs						
Touch Panel	Temperature Sensor	Timers	1					
General Illum	ination Preferences	LED Feedback	Mode					
 Edit <u>R</u> ese								
Button			Mode	CIT	СН2 СН3	CH4 CI	45 CH6	CH7 CH8
🚬 On (CH1)			Dual	S				38
Push button 2 (f	CH2)		Single	\smile	2			

8 HEATING/COOLING CONTROL

Velbus can easily be configured to command a heating and/or cooling system (see "**Installation Guide, Part 1: Hardware and Cabling**" for a quick overview of relevant modules).

We will explain here the principle of heating control using a VMBGPOD glass panel with OLED display as master panel in the living room, and a VMBGP2 two-button glass panel in the bathroom.

1. ACTIVATE THE TEMPERATURE SENSORS

First of all, the thermostat functions of both panels have to be activated by assigning them an address (different from FF). Access the Address management dialog by clicking on 🖭. Below, as an example, we have selected the VMBGPOD.

ddress management			>
Modules			
Name	Address 🔺	Туре	Show only:
III VMB7IN	08	VMB7IN	
VMBGPOD Master panel	09,FF,FF,FF,FF	VMBGPOD	I Helays
VMB6PBN	10	VMB6PBN	Dimmers
			🔲 Blinds
			✓ Inputs
			🔲 Heating
Automatically select detected modules			E Sensors
Addresses of module 'VMBGPOD Master panel'			
Page 1-2: 0.9 Change			
Page 3-4: FE			
Page 5-6: FF			
Page 7-8: FF	es		
Thermostate: FF)		
		<u>C</u> lose	

Check the Use thermostat checkbox. The input field for the thermostat will become active. Fill in a free address between 01 and FE and press Enter or click on the Change button. Do the same for other modules as necessary. Then press Close.

2. CONFIGURE THE TEMPERATURE SETTINGS

Now, in the navigator window, select the VMBGP2 panel and access its configuration dialog by clicking on 🥮.

🧱 48,A6. VMBGP2 Bathroom - Configuration Settings		×
Touch Panel Temperature Sensor Timers Ceneral Alarms Program Steps Advanced		
Sensor name Bathroom Heater Range max: 30.0 + * Comfor 22.0 + * Dy: 20.0 + * Dy: 20.0 + * Safe 50 + * Safe 50 + * Bange min: 50 +	Cooler Bange max: 36.0 € Standby: 36.0 € E 126.0 € E 11: 23.0 € E 11: 23.0 € E 11: 21.0 € E 11: 21.0 € E 11: 21.0 €	
Show advanced features	<u>W</u> rite changes	<u>P</u> one

Edit the settings in the tab Temperature > General. Change the sensor name (we chose "Bathroom"), and set the desired target temperatures for each heating mode. The sensor name chosen here will also appear on the VMBGPOD display when we configure this later on. Click on Done.

Next, configure the VMBGPOD master panel.

🖁 09,FF,FF,FF,FF. VMBGPOD Master panel - Config	uration Settings 🛛 🗙
Touch Panel Temperature Programs	Counters
General Alarms Remote Program Steps	Advanced
Sensor name	
Heater	Cooler
Range max.: 30.0 🜩	Range max.: 36.0 🔶
★* Comfort 22.0 ↔ ★ Day: 20.0 ↔ ● Nigh: 15.0 ↔ ★ Safe 50 ↔ Bange min: 50 ↔	 Standby: 36.0 ★ I: 26.0 ★ II: 23.0 ★ III: 21.0 ★ Range min:: 16.0 ★
All values are in degress celcius (°C)	
Show advanced features	<u>W</u> rite changes ⊉one

In the VMBGPOD configuration settings, do the same as above for the VMBGP2, and also check the Display temperatures checkbox. This makes the thermostat page accessible on the OLED display of the VMBGPOD.

3. LINK SENSORS

Next, we will link the VMBGP2 "Bathroom" temperature sensor to the VMBGPOD master panel, so the first can be accessed from the latter's display. In the VMBGPOD configuration settings, go to the tab Temperature > Remote, select the "Bathroom" sensor and click on Show.

🗱 09,FF,FF,FF,FF. VMBGPOD Master panel - Configuration Settings	×
Touch Panel Temperature Programs Counters	
General Alarms Remote Program Steps Advanced	
Temperature sensors that can be adjusted remotely	
Sensor Address Visible Outdoor temp 06105 No Image: Bathroom (48) A6 Yes Adjusting your temperature sensors an extra control page will be added. For very temperature sensors the temperature can only be displayed. For VMBGPxxx temperature sensors the operating mode (day, night, comfort,) can be changed also. Hide the local temperature sensor	
✓ Show ➡ Hide ✓ Show advanced features ✓	

Press Done to exit the dialog.

After synchronization > write, you will now be able to access from the VMBGPOD glass panel's display both the "Living" and the "Bathroom" thermostat functions. These include setting the mode (anti-freeze, night, day, or comfort) and changing the current target temperature. This change can be timed (e.g. 2° warmer for one hour) or it can remain active until the next program step or the next manual intervention. (Please refer to the VMBGPOD product pages and the FAQ on www.velbus.eu for more details).

4. CREATE CONNECTIONS

Finally, we need to create the right connections (actions) between the thermostat channels on the glass panels and the relay channels controlling the heating system.

How the Velbus relays need to be physically connected to the heating system depends on the specific system. A standard setup could be, for instance, one relay commanding the central pump of the heating system, and for each heating circuit a separate relay channel that controls the flow valve.

The glass panels have 8 special channels for heating and cooling (see screenshot below). In our example the pump and heater channels interest us most. Whenever the measured temperature drops below the target temperature, these channels will be closed ("Pressed"). Once the temperature is again equal to or higher than the target temperature, the channels open again ("Released").

In the example below, the measured temperature is 22,5°C. The target temperature has not been reached, thus the heater and pump channels are closed ("Pressed").



Schematically represented, the actions to be created are the following:



Note: The "momentary" action means that the subject will follow the state of the initiator. As long as the initiator is pressed (closed), the subject will be pressed (closed) also. As long as the initiator is released (open), the subject will be released (open) also. The "Momentary" action, when used with multiple initiators on the same subject, will function as a logical "OR": as long as at least one of the initiators remains closed ("Pressed"), the subject will remain closed ("Pressed") also. Only when all initiators are open ("Released") will the subject be open ("Released").

Thanks to the "momentary" actions, whenever the pump and heater channels on a glass panel close, the connected relays also close and thus activate the heating system. Once the heater and pump channels open again, the relevant parts of the heating system will be deactivated too. Note that as long as at least one connected pump channel is closed ("Pressed"), the pump relay will also remain closed. Thus the pump will continue working as long as at least one glass panel demands heating.

More configuration options, e.g. hysteresis, sensor calibration, delays etc. are accessible under the Temperature tab of the modules. For details, please refer to www.velbus.eu (product, FAQ and support pages).

5. USING INPUT CHANNELS TO SET THE HEATING / COOLING MODE (OPTIONAL)

Input channels (eg. push buttons) can be configured to change the active heating / cooling mode. To do so, create an action with the input channel as initiator and a temperature sensor channel as subject. In the example below, we selected as subject the temperature sensor channel of a VMBGPOD glass panel.

	Select a channel			×	
	Search:				
	Channel Cha	ing grams (CH1) 2 (CH2) 3 (CH3) 4 (CH4) 5 (CH6) 7 (CH7) 3 (CH6) 7 (CH7) 3 (CH8)	Add U4 05		
	Only show these types of	modules (filter);			
	RelaysDimmers	I Input I Heat	ing		
	Blinds	🗌 Sens	ors		
			<u>0</u> K	Cancel	
VMB8PBU, Druk	knop 1 (CH1)				✓ <u>Selec</u> ¹
F,FF,FF,06. VME	IGPOD Living, Living (CH34	i)			Select
ault actions			Parameters:		
Comfort/III mode		1	Parameter		Value

Sul	bject: 05,FF,FF,FF,06. VMBGPOD Living, Living (CH34)		×	Select.	Detect
tion:	🖃 🚞 Default actions		Parameters:			
	- 🎯 Comfort/III mode	1	Parameter		Value	in minimizer in the second
	- 🎯 Day/II mode	2				
	🎯 Night/I mode	3				
	- 🎯 Safe/standby mode	4				
	- 🎯 Heating mode	5				
	- 🎯 Cooling mode	6				
	- 🂮 Forced Safe mode at open switch	7				
	- 💮 Forced Safe mode at closed switch	8				
	- 💮 Forced Safe mode	9				
	- 🍈 Forced or Cancel Forced Safe mode	10				
	Cancel Forced Safe mode	11				

Available actions are switching to day/night/safe/comfort mode, to heating or cooling mode, and so on.

9 CREATING AND MODIFYING PROGRAM STEPS

PROGRAM STEPS FOR INPUT CHANNELS

All Velbus input modules can be programmed to activate, deactivate, lock, unlock, press, long press or release their own channels at certain times. Time settings can be fixed times, sunrise/sunset with or without offset, and more. Program steps can be repeated daily, weekly, only on weekends, and so on. Every input module has a built-in astronomical clock with sunset and sunrise hours predefined.

In each module a maximum of 64 or 85 program steps can be defined, depending on the type of module.

Program steps are configured on the Program steps or Timers tab of the configuration dialog (see "Configuring modules" p.22 for instructions on how to access the configuration dialog). Click on the Add button 🗟 to create a new program step.

10. VMB6PBN - Configuration S	ettings			×
General Clock Program Steps Mode	LED Indication Backli	ght NO/NC		
Program Steps Alarms Sun	rise/Sunset			
	🏠 Program Step Sett	ings	×	
	Program Step			_
Lhannel A				
	Channel: J Push bu	(ton I (LHI)	•	
	Program			
		Active for program: Program 1		
	Recurrence			
		Every day		
		C Every Monday	ndau)	
	Weekly	C Every working day (monday to fri	day)	
<u> </u>	C Monthly	C Every day except sunday		
Show advanced features			Dor	
	Execution time			
	Fixed time	▼ 07:00 🜩	\mathbf{S}	
		<u></u> K	Cancel	

In the Program Step Settings dialog, the details of the program step can be configured. When all fields have been set as needed, click on OK to to add the program step.

To modify a program step, simply select it in the Program Steps tab and click on the Edit button 👼.

HEATING/COOLING PROGRAM STEPS

Those modules that have thermostat functions (e.g. the glass panel series VMBGPODx, VMBGP1x, VMBGP2x and VMBGP4x) also have a configuration tab for program steps related to heating and cooling.

Heating and cooling program steps can be configured in the tab Temperature > Program steps. Here program steps can be created to automatically activate heating/cooling modes at certain times. The principle is the same as explained above under "Program steps for input ".

PROGRAMS VERSUS PROGRAM STEPS

Every input module has three possible programs: Program 1, 2 and 3. Programs are not the same as program steps.

A **program step** is for instance: "activate input channel 3 during 1 minute every day at 07:00". A **program** is a set or group of such program steps. Only one **program** at a time can be active for a given module, containing multiple **program steps**.

In most cases only one program will be used, containing all the needed program steps.

Program 1	Program 2	Program 3
Program step	Program step	Program step
Program step	Program step	Program step
Program step	Program step	Program step
Program step	Program step	Program step
Program step	Program step	Program step

For the **program steps** to be executed on a module, the **program** they belong to needs to be active (see screenshot below). This setting is only accessible when Velbuslink is connected, as the active program is immediately set on the module, even without syncing.

🧱 10. VMB6PBN - Configuration Settings	×
General Clock Program Steps Mode LED Indication Backlight NO/NC	
Program Steps Alarms Sunrise/Sunset	
Active program: Program 1 Add Edit	
Channel 🔺 Program Recurrence 🗸	Action

ACTIONS RELATED TO PROGRAM STEPS AND PROGRAMS

Manipulating program steps

Program steps can be activated and deactivated by other Velbus channels. To do so, create an action and as **subject** choose the input channel for which the program steps have been programmed.

Manipulating programs

An input channel (eg. a push button) can also be configured to act upon the active program of an input module.

To do so, create an action and as **subject** choose the input module, channel Module programs (see screenshot below).

hannel		Addr
- 📴 VMB7IN		08
- 🔠 VMBGPOD Master	panel	09
🗢 🕲 Module program	ms	
 L Kitchen (CH1)	
 L Hall (CH2) 		
 Sunscreen up ((CH3)	
 Sunscreen dow 	vn (CH4)	
 Push button 5 ((CH5)	
 Push button 6 ((CH6)	
 Push button 7 ((CH7)	
Push button 8 ((CH8)	
- 💽 VMB6PBN		10
y show these types of mo	dules (filter);	
🗌 Relays	🔽 Inputs	
Dimmers	Heating	
🗆 Blinds	Sensors	

Available actions are setting the active program on the module, deactivating all programs, and so on.

10TROUBLESHOOTING

THE BUS IS NOT SCANNED CORRECTLY DUE TO AN INCORRECT WINDOWS DEVICE DRIVER

During the installation of Velbuslink, the necessary drivers should automatically be installed on your PC. Depending on the system, this can be in the folder C:\Program Files\Velleman\Velbuslink\Driver, C:\Program Files (x86)\Velleman\VelbusLink\Driver, or still another one.

If necessary, you can manually install this driver into your Windows system. To do so, open your Windows Start menu and do a search for *devmgmt.msc* (or Device Manager). Start this program and scroll down to Ports (COM & LPT).



Display the contents of the Ports (COM & LPT) category by clicking on the small triangle to the left. Right click on VMB1USB Velbus USB Interface and select Update driver.

A window will pop up asking you how you want to search for driver software. Select Browse my computer for driver software, browse to the Velbuslink folder mentioned above, and click Next. Install the driver following the instructions that Windows will provide.

Once the correct driver installed, Velbuslink will automatically choose the correct port for communication with the Velbus network.

WHEN I TRY TO SCAN, VELBUSLINK GIVES AN ERROR MESSAGE "COMMUNICATION ERROR RECEIVED"

When Velbuslink shows the following error message



the cause can be one of the following:

- your Velbus installation is (partially) powered down. Check the power supply to the Velbus modules (on all modules the PS LED should be on).
- the terminators have not been (correctly) set. A standard Velbus installation should have two terminators set, not more, not less, ideally at the outer ends of the installation (eg. one in the electrical cabinet and one at the end of the longest bus cable branch). See also "Installation Guide, Part 1: Hardware and Cabling".
- the installation has a wiring problem. See "The scan is done and I saw the scan addresses increase from 00 upwards, but nothing was found" below.

• the PC interface module (VMBRSUSB, VMB1USB or other) is defective or in error mode. Power down your installation, wait 5 seconds and power up again. Unplug the USB cable and plug it in again (preferably using another PC-port), reconnect Velbuslink and perform a new scan. If this does not solve the problem, the PC interface module might be defective. In most cases however the problem lies with faulty wiring or a terminator problem.

THE SCAN WORKED PERFECTLY BUT NOW, USING THE SAME PORT, I CAN'T FIND MY INSTALLATION ANYMORE

The hardware of your USB port may lose communication with your Velbus system, for instance after your PC enters sleep mode. The simplest solution is to plug the USB cable into another port, forcing the system to re-initialise.

THE SCAN IS DONE AND I SAW THE SCAN ADDRESSES INCREASE FROM 00 UPWARDS, BUT NOTHING WAS FOUND

This usually has a wiring or terminator problem as the cause:

- Is the polarity correct everywhere along the bus data wires (H and L)?
- Is the supply voltage present along the bus? (Do all modules have the red power LED illuminated?)
- Are the terminators correctly set? A standard Velbus installation should have two terminators set, not more, not less, ideally at the outer ends of the installation (eg. one in the electrical cabinet and one at the end of the longest bus cable branch). See also "Installation Guide, Part 1: Hardware and Cabling".
- Maybe somewhere a supply cable (+ or 12 V) has been connected to a data cable (H or L) by mistake?
- Does your configuration module VMB1USB or VMBRSUSB have contact with the bus? This module is sometimes connected with a loose piece of cable in which a bus wire can easily break!
- Are the screws into the screw terminals of the bus correctly tightened?
- Is your configuration module VMB1USB in good condition? When used without a protective housing VMBFBI, a short circuit can easily happen.
- Are you using the correct cable type for the connection PC VMB1RS?
- Is the USB port blocked or broken? Try connecting the USB cable to another socket.

THE SCAN IS OVER BUT THERE ARE MISSING MODULES

- See the above advice concerning wiring problems
- Double check the addresses of the "missing" modules. There is a chance that addresses have been duplicated.
- Do not forget that addresses of the VMB4PD and VMB1TC can be manually set via the module.
- A bad contact in the wiring can cause so much disturbance on the bus that only a few modules are found during a scan.
- Are you using the latest version of Velbuslink? (Free download on www.velbus.eu > Support > Downloads.)

THE SCAN IS OVER BUT SOME MODULES HAVE A RED 'X' MARK . ON THE MODULE NAME

Modules are shown with a red 'X' mark [©] over the module name when they have not been found during a scan. This typically happens when a module has been removed from the installation, after which a new scan is performed.

If you did not remove modules but still have a red cross over a module, check the following:

have you replaced the module? Velbuslink takes into account the serial number of the modules. If you replace a module by a new one, Velbuslink will consider this new module as being different from the original one (even if you gave both the same address). Both modules will appear in Velbuslink after a scan, one with a red 'X' mark ^(a) (namely the original, removed one), one without the red 'X' (the new one). Simply delete the crossed out module from the Velbuslink project file (select it and press the remove module icon ^(a)) and scan again.

© 2015 Velbus

- in case the Velbus installation has not been changed and red crosses @ appear after a new scan, there is probably a wiring or terminator problem. See "The scan is done and I saw the scan addresses increase from 00 upwards, but nothing was found" above for solutions.
- Check that you have not accidentally changed the address of the module? You can find the module by opening the detection window in Velbuslink and physically operate the module. You will see the module appear in Velbuslink along with its correct address.

MY VMB8PBU MODULES GIVE A DIFFERENT ADDRESS THAN THE ONE I SET

Care is needed when connecting these modules, as the left two wires are common (marked "COM"). If, instead of these, you use other wires (of the channels) as common wires, you will get such strange effects. Do not blindly follow the colours of any wires.

THE ADDRESSES OF MY MODULES HAVE SUDDENLY CHANGED

Sometimes addresses *appear* to have been changed in Velbuslink simply because the view has been switched from decimal to hexadecimal (this setting can be changed in the View menu on top or by clicking the *setting* - *setting* button).

SOME INPUT CHANNELS PROVIDE A WRONG "PRESSED" STATUS

If you connect feedback LEDs, you must respect the polarity of these LEDs. If you mount them backwards you get the effect of an activated push button. Some LEDs are now available in "Dual Polarity", which can adversely affect the push-button interface. A simple diode in line will correct this.

THE LEDS ON SOME MODULES BLINK OR DO NOT RESPOND

Check if there are no wiring problems and restart the system if necessary (power down, wait a few seconds and power up again). See "The scan is done and I saw the scan addresses increase from 00 upwards, but nothing was found" above for solutions for wiring problems.

In case of error, modules may have their LEDs blinking as follows:

- blinking 2 x, pause, blinking 2 x, etc: communication error
- blinking 3 x, pause, blinking 3 x, etc.: supply voltage too low
- blinking 4 x, pause, blinking 4 x, etc.: supply voltage too high

This may vary between modules. Check the documentation of the specific modules for further details.

AN INPUT MODULE STOPS RESPONDING

Check if you haven't programmed a delay in the button or input channel. Push the button for at least three seconds to make sure.

The channel may also be locked. In Velbuslink, right click on the channel, select this module > unlock buttons. If this fails to unlock the channel, temporarily configure a push button to unlock the channel (by creating an "unlock" action between the two), then unlock the channel by pushing the button. Once the channel unlocked, you can remove the "unlock" action.

In case of a static electrical discharge, power down the system, wait a few seconds and power up again.

AFTER A SCAN OF MY NEW MODULES I GET CONTINUOUS ERROR MESSAGES IF I TRY TO READ OR SYNC

Only synchronise when there are no red 'X' marks 🥸 or exclamation signs 🕕 next to any of your listed modules.

To solve the red 'X' marks 🧐, see "The scan is over but some modules have a red 'X' mark 🛛 on the module name" above.

Exclamation signs () appear when two or more modules have the same address or next to modules with invalid addresses (FF). All modules with electronic addressing have their address set to FF by factory default. You must assign a new, unique address to all modules before taking further action.

AUTOMATIC DETECTION SELECTS THE WRONG MODULE

The address of the module you are expecting is probably also attributed to another module. Check for exclamation signs **()** next to modules and assign a new, unique address to these modules. Then re-scan your installation. In any case, only use the detection function if there are no more duplicate addresses (apart from 'FF') in the system.

See also

"Installation Guide, Part 1: Hardware and Cabling"